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DOTH CoNGRESS,~ HOUSE OF R~PHESEN'l'A'riVES. 
1st Session. f 

A. J. McCREARY. 

J REPOR'I.' 
{ No.1981. 

Al'RIL 27, 1888.-Comrnitted to the Committee of the Whole House and ordered to 
be printed. 

Mr. PERKINS, from the Committee on Indian Affairs, submitted the 
following 

REPORT: 
[To accompany bill H. R. 7924.) 

The Committee on Indian Affairs, to whom was referred House bill 7924, beg 
leave to ·report: 

The present claimant in this case, A. J. McCreary, is the administrator 
of J. M. Hiatt, who was the surviving member of the firm of Hiatt & 
Co., who. were Indian traders in 1.873 at the Osage Agency (Pahuska), 
Indian Territory. 

In consequence of the failure of CongreRs to make adequate appro­
priation for the support of these Indians, as it had done in previous 
y'ears, there beiug a reduction of about $200,000 in their annuities, the 
Indians were found to be in great destitution, suffering both for 1ood 
and clothing. This condition of the lndiatJS is a fact well supported by 
the evidence, and in consequence of it all the chiefs, councilors, the 
governor, and head-men of tl1e Osage tribe of Indians made an urgent 
appeal to the Indian traders, which was approved by Cyrus Beede, then 
United States Indian agent at tllat agency, to extend to the Indians a 
credit of from $8 to $10 per capita, promising paymeut out of tlleir next 
expected annuity, whicll it was supposed would be ample for the pur­
pose; but the next annuity, instead of being $15 per capita, as had been 
expected, was reduced to but little over $3 per capita, the result of which 
was that .the condition of the Indians was left as bad as 1t had been be-. 
fore, and payment of any credit extended to them was rendered im­
possible. 

It is well supported by evidence that the traders were very careful in 
making such extended credit. They had the advice and assistance of 
some of the chiefs, Governor Joseph Pard Ne No Parhe, commonly 
called Governor Joe, a full- blood, though an educated man of character, 
and Paul Akin, United States interpreter, and the Indian agent, Cyrus 
Beede, in seeing and directing that the goods and supplies might be 
fairly distributed to all the families and individuals of the tribe. 

After it became apparent that the Indian traders, Hiatt & Co., would 
not be able to secure the payment of the credit extended by them from 
the individual Indians out of their annuities, it was proposed that the 
indebtedness should be assumed by the governing council of the Osage 
tribe of Indians, and paid out of their national fund. The national fund 
of these Indians at that time amounted and still amounts to about 
$6,000,000, and they have an accumulated interest fund of between 
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$500,000 and $600,000. The original credit was extended upon the faith 
and promises of the governing body of the Indians and their head chiefs 
that the payment would be guarantied by the nation, and subsequently 
thereto there was au adjustment of the account, as hereinafter explained, 
between the governing council of the Osage tribe of Indians and J. M. 
Hiatt & Oo., whereby it was ascertained that the amount of the indebt­
edness due to Hiatt & Co. for the necessaries thus supplied to the In­
dians in their destitution and distress amounted to $16,759.99. The 
claim as thus stated was referred to the governing council of the Osage 
trilJe of Indians. The authority of this governing council is shown by 
the following action of the tribe: 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., June 2, 1876. 
This certifies that at a meeting of the chiefs, councilors, and head-men of the Osage 

tribe of Indians, held at their council room at the Osage Agf'ncy, Indian Territory, 
this the 2d day of June, H:l76, Joseph Pawneenopashe has been duly elected governor, 
and Chetopa has been elected chief councilor for our tribe, to hold their respective 
offices for two years from the date hereof, unless sooner removed for cause by the 
chiefs and bead-men of the nation, or by the United States agent for the tribe, of 
which cause the chiefs and bead-men in council assembled, by vote, or the United 
States agent, shall determine. 

It is also agreed by the council of chiEti's and bead-men assembled that the governor 
and chief councilor elect shall, with the approval of the United States agent, appoint 
:five leading men of the tribe, to be associated with themselves, constituting the busi­
ness committee of the tribe, in the transaction of its business with the ageut, and the 
committee thus elected and appointed are authorized to receipt for supplies and an­
nuities issued by the agent and the Government of whatever kind; to examine and 
act on behalf of the tribe on all matters of claims against our tribe, individual bands1 

or members thereof. 
The associate commit.tee, or any of them thus appointed, shall be subject to removal 

at any time, and in like manner and for like cause as the governor and chief councilor 
may be removed, or, for like cause, may be removed by the governor and chief coun­
cilor jointly. 

The governor, chief councilor, aud associate committee are elected and appointed 
with t.be exprefls understanding and agreement on their part that they ~:!hall labor 
faithfully for the advancement of the tribe and all its members in civilization; they 
shall aid in preventing any violation of law by any of our people, in the arrest and 
punishment of all violators of the law on our reservation; t.hey shall aid in the arre~t 
of any person found on th~ r~scrvation with" whisky" or any other intoxicating 
liquor without authority of law; they shall in no case use the same themselves nor 
allow their people to do so. 

They shall restrain their people from committing any acts of depredation, from mo­
lesting any private or public building. They shall in no case enter any of the public 
buildings about the agency without authority nor allow other members of the tribe 
to do so, and any failnre on their part to comply with these regulations shall be re-
garded as sufficient cause for immediate removal from office. . 

l!.,or the faithful performance of the duties herein imposed the governor shall re­
ceive, as heretofore, a salary of $500 per annum, the chief councilor $400 per annum, 
and each of the associate councilors $300 per annum, to be paid from our tribal funds. 

CHIEFS OF BANDS. 
(Signed with an x mark:) 

Big Chief, White Hair, To-wauge-he, Black Dog, Napa Walla,Nun-sa-wah-hab, 
Clammorc, George Beaver, Strike Axe, Saucy Chief, We-kah-ke-pah-ne, Tall 
Chief, Wah-ti-an-ka, Town Maker, Glado-mo-sa, William Penn, Little Chief 

COUNCILORS AND HEADMEN. 

(Signed with an x mark: ) 
Mo-sho-o-logy, Hard Rope, Kaw Striker, Wash-kom-wa, Two Giver, Little Fool, 

Okun-tsa-wah-sko, Belvizo, Big Heart, Che-sho-wahti-an-ka, Soppa-kea, 
Bare Leg, Saucy Osage, Sancy Paoli, Big Elk, Olo-boh-wah-la, Strike Axe, 
Epe-sonsa, Little Fool, Brake Bero, Dark, Wah-tsa-woh -hea, Bad '£empor, 
Dog Thief, Scare Dog, Nia-hah-ka, Ambitions Man, Tally, White Horn, 
Big HaH, Black l!'ist, Eagle, Iron Collar, Tsa-moie, Noisy, Wah-bah-da, 
Tsa-no-poh-shP-, White Horn, Chief Stroud, Ne-kah-ko-la, Step-Long, Man, 
Hard Heart, Mo-o-lab-bah, Samuel Beivenue (signed), Anthony Del Qrier 
(signed), Che-mah-hab, · 
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OSAGE AGENCY, L~D. T., June 2, 1876. 
I certify on honor that I have interpreted the foregoing instrument of writing to 

the Osage tribe of Indians in council assembled this the 2d day of June, 1876, to t11eir 
understanding, and that the signatures and marks of the chiefs and head-men thereto 
were made in my presence and are genuine. 

PAUL AKEN, 
Utl,ited States Interpreter. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., June 2, 1876. 
We certify on honor that we were present at the council held with the Osage tribe 

of Ineians this :.!d day of June, 1876; that the foregoing instrument of writing was 
fully explained to them in our hearing; and that the signatures and marks of the 
chiefs and head-men thereto were made in our presence and aro genuine. 

J. L. STUBBS, 
R. W. HOPKINS. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., June 2, U:l76 
Done in my presence this 2d day of June, 1876. 

CYRUS BEEDE, 
United States Indian Agent. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., Decentbm·ll, 1877. 
Official copy of proceedings of Osage council of Indians, held at the Osage Agency, 

Ind. T., June 2, 1876. 
Attest: 

CYRUS BEEDE, 
United States Indian Agent. 

The firm of Hiatt & Co. and its clerks met the governing council aud 
the accounts were settled and adjusted, and the governing body then 
and there executed a formal recognition of this statement of accounts 
and balance, and requesterl the Secretary of the Interior to pay the 
same, as appears by the following petition: 

To the honorable Secretary of the Interior: 
The undersigned, the governor, chief councilors, and head chiefs, constituting the 

business committee of the Osage tribe of Int.iians, respectfully ask that yon pay to 
Hiatt & Co. the sum of $16,7W.99 out of the money accruing to us by act of Congress 
approved June 16, 1880. 

The above sum is the correct aggregate of accounts against our people for supplies 
furnished them, and which they have hitherto been unable to pay. 

The accounts are correct, the surwlies were needed and had, and as honest men we 
desire payment to be made as protliptly as possible. 

To that end we make this requisition upon you, and this shall be our receipt for the 
same. 

JosEPH PARD NE No PARHE, 
Governor of the Nation. 

STRIKE Ax (his x mark), Chief. 
BIG CHIEF (his x mark). 
BLACK DOG (his x mark). 
HARD ROPE (his x mark). 
N. H. CONNOR. 

Interpreted fully and signed. 
Explained in our presence, Osage Agency, Ind. T., August 17, 18'30. 

W. P. ADAIR. 
THOS. R. GAY. 
DANIEL TERDALL. 

Paul Akin, at that time the official interpreter for the Indians, gave 
the following certificate : 

I hereby certify that I am entirely familiar with the character, origin, ::tnd amount 
of Hiatt & Co.'s claim of $16,759.99 against the Osages, payment of which has been 
asked by the governor and chief~ of the 1ribe. I ad vi sell giving the credit, and inter­
preted largely for tho Indians when they traded; that I also interpreted and ex­
plained fully the oruer they have given for the payment. 

Osage Agency.t Ind. T., August 17, Hl80. 
PAUL AKIN, 

United States Interpreter. 
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EVIDENCE OF THE CLAIM. 

The following evidence was presented in support of the claim: 
KEOKUK, IOWA, September 8,. 1885. 

The honorable COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRs, 
Washington, D. C.: 

SIR: I was for a number of years preceding 1880 the acting member of the firm of 
Hiatt & Co., duly licensed traders for the Osage tribe of Indians at the Osage Agency 
(Pahuska), Indian Territory. 

During the year 187tl I was appealed to by Governor Joe, and nearly if ~t quite 
all of the chiefs, couneilors, and head-men of the Osage tribe of Indians, to extend to 
the Osages a credit of fi·om $8 to $10 per capita, promising payment out of their next 
annuity, which was expected to be ample for that purpose. The appeal was sup­
ported and the credit approved by Cyrus Beede, United States Indian agent for the 
Osages at that time, promising to use his official influence to have said firm prompt.ly 
paid. I did, as acting partner of Hiatt & Co., extend to the Osage Indians credits to 
the amount of $16, 7f>9.99, keeping a carefully itemized account of all goods sold to 
each head of a family, part of a family, aud individuaL Paul Akin, United States 
interpreter, Governor Joe, Sam Bevenue, chief of the half-breeds, and other chiefs 
and head-men, were freely and fully consulted with as to who were the proper 
persons, and the amount they were enti tied to of such credit. Every precaution 
wa::; taken to have the credit fairly distributed to all the member~:~ of the tribe; 
but the next annuity, instead of being $15 per capita, as expected, was reduced to a 
little over $3 per capita, so that the payment of our claim out of t.hat was im­
possible, and l.>efore the annuities were equal to its payment .Agent Beede was 
superseded by an agent who has,.for reasons unknown to me, constantly resisted the 
payment of our elaim. 

Finding that an appeal would have to be made to the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs for its payment, in the summer of 1880 we went before the governor, chief 
councilors, ancl head chiefs, constituting the business committee of the tribe, with 
our books, containing all the itemized accounts, our chief clerk, Mr. Gay, and Paul 
Akin, United Rtates interpreter, and after a long and careful examination of all the 
items composing, the amount of $16,759.99 was found to be due the firm of Hiatt & 
Co., as fully appears by the petitions and certificates of the. business committee, chiefs, 
etd., herewith submitted. Since perfecting the accounts, as ahove stated, the des­
perate comlition of my health and the continued opposition of the agent has delayed 
the payment of our claim or the proper presentation of it to the Interior Department. 
I have been anxiously waiting, hoping that my health would improve so that I could 
giv~ it my personal attention, but now despairing of that I have securetl the services 
of my friend, WilliaHl G. Coffin, to obtain all the necessary corroborative evidence pos­
sible, after so long a delay. I do most solemnly aver that the account is just; the sup­
plies were needed and were furnished the Indians in good faith as charged, and at fair 
prices, and I trust that no further delay that can. be avoided will be snftered in its pay­
ment. I will say that, owing to my prostration by sickness, I have never been to the 
agency since the examination and adjustment of our accounts by the business com­
mittee. I was obliged to sell the store without being able to attend to closing up the 
business there. The books and papers were boxed up and sent to me, but for some 
reason, through carelessness or something worse, the book containing the itemized 
account of the extended credit, after the most Jiligent search~ I have been unable to find, 
or the items would have been furnished. All of which is most respectfully presented. 

JNO. M. HIATT. 
STATE oF low A, 

Lee County: 
I, J. M. Hiatt, surviving p1trtner of Hiatt & Co., on my oath depose and say that 

I am acquainted with the foregoing, and that the statements as set forth are true, as 
I verily believe. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me, Harrison Tucker, a notary public in and for 
Lee County, Iowa, this 8th day of September, A. D. 18tl5. 

(SEAL.] HAH.RISON TUCKER, 
Notary Public. 

OsKALOOSA, low A, Decernber 1, 1885. 
I certify on honor that I have examined the statement of J. M. Hiatt, of the late 

firm of Hiat,t & Co., licen8ed traders at Osage Agency, Ind. T., and believe the same 
to be sul>stantially correct. 

I was Uui ted States Indian agent for the Osage Indians from the early part of the 
year 1876 to about the 20th of July, 1878. During a great portion of this time the 

. Osages were in a peculiar state of destitution, owing to the failure of Congress to 



A. J. M'CREARY. 5 

make adequate appropriatiou for tlJCir t!Upport., :tK it b:ttl tlone for f,]w two years next 
preceding, the item of rednct,ion being $200,000, and at times these Indians were 
reduc~d to hunger and altogether too near nakedness. 

At times during my administration, on the ea1·nest and pitiable appeal of almost 
every leading Indian of the t.ribe (and in acconlance with my own judgment as nec­
('S<">aTy, bast·d upon actual oh.::;ervance of their dt:sl itutioll), I toiHCOuragod lho Jiccuscu 
trauers to credit them tu the extent of fnrnisl•iug liruitetl amonntH uf sul.mistence aud 
clothing to relieve suffering, trusting tue promit:>es of the Indians to settle these 
accounts at times of annuity paymeuts, knowing full well that the tribe had ample 
funds at the disposal of t,he Government (wbeneyerthe same could be made available) 
to meet all such liabilities without emlJarra.ssmeut. 

The precise amount of credit. given I am unable to state at this time without ac­
cess to <lata not just now at hand. 

That portion of this debt contracted during my administration I believe to be just, 
and that the same should be paid ont of Osage funds, in accordance with the ex­
pressed wish of the tribe, all as I verily believe. 

CYRUS BEEDE. 

STATJ~ Ol!' IowA, 
Mahaska County, ss: 

Subscribed and affirmed before me this 3d day of December, 1885. 

Hon. COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS: 

F. E. SMITH, 
Cle1·lc 1Jist1·ict Cou1·t, a Cou1·t of Record. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. TER., 
.A:u.gust 20, 1880. 

Sm: The govemor of the Osages and a number of the chiefs have directecl or peti­
tioned the honorable Secretary of the Interior to pay a claim of $16,759.99, due to 
Hiatt & Co. from said tribe. 

As chief of the half-breed band, and having a better knowledge, perhaps, of the 
origin and character of said claim than any other ehief, I unite with them in earnestly 
asking that the claim be promptly paid, as requested. 'l'he Indi~tus aut! others were 
led to believe that the payment of about $15 per head in January, 1tl7ts, woul(~ he con· 
tinned at Anbstant,ially that. sum. In that helief I advised H. & Co. to give the Osages 
a credit for half the sum, knowing that it would greatly accornmorlate tho lndiaus, 
and believing it would be entirely safe; but the consequent paymeut and later ones, 
instead of $15, have been hut little over $3 per head. Their present needs absorbed 
this small sum at once, so there has been no time at which it was possible to pay a debt 
made in good faith, and of which they reaped the full beuefit. Knowing their ability 
to pay their debts, and grateful for the accommodation, the honor and self-respect of 
the Osages is concerned in the quick and full discharge of the debt. 

I have the honor to be, your obedient servant, 

Witness: 
J. H. TISDALE. 

The COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN Al!'FAIRS: 

SAMUEL BEIVNEW, 
Head Chief of Half-Breed Band. 

Sm: The undersigned was a member of the firm of Hiatt & Co., doing business 
with the Osage Indians at. tho time referred to in the following statement. There 
were at the same time (1873), two other firms at the agency, viz, Dunlap & Florer, 
aftewards Florer & Rankin, and Captain Coy & Co. 

The Indians had become indebted to these three concerns for necessary supplies to 
an amonut aggregating from $16,000 to $18,000, pretty evenly divided between the 
three. Finding tuey could not pay these claims from proceeds of hunt or their small 
cash annuity, they, in full council and without a dissenting voice, decided to make it 
a national debt. 

To that eml they united in a petition, addressed to their agent and the superintend­
ent of Iuc.lian atl:'airs, asking the payment of these debts out of their common fnncl. 
There wa,s hnt one petition; it specified the total amount and the amount duo tho 
traders respectively. },lorer & Rankin and Hiatt & Co.'s claims were paid in full uy 
Superintendeut Hong; owing to some clerical error the claim of Captain Coy & Co. 
was left out, and paid in part at tbe next payment, when it wa,s again allowed anq 
~~reed to he paid in inst.allments. · ~ 

If, Repe 6-~9 
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Now, this I can say from personal knowledge, the claim of Captain Coy & Co. was 
on precisely the footing of the others, and as much entitled tu full and prompt pay­
ment. 

Respectfully, 
J. M. HIATT. 

I have personally and intimately known Col. John M. Hiatt, whose genuine signa­
ture is on the other page of this paper, and he is an upright man and a gentleman of · 
undoubted veracity, and I would fully rely on any statement made by him. 

SAM. F. MILLER. 

The foregoing statement of J. M. Hiatt I know to be true, as I was present aiding 
Superintendent Hoag to pay the Indians, and heard them in full council discuss these 
claimR and ask the superintendent to pay them, and know that Captain Coy & Co.'s 
claim would have been paid in full at that time but for a clerical error, which was 
not discovered until the distribution had been made and payment commenced. I was 
present at the next payment in the same capacity, when the matter was again brought 
up in full council and payment asked to be made in installments, the first of which 
was then made. The justness of the debt was questioned by no one, and I presumed 
it had been paid long ago. 

Respectfully, 
JOHN K. RANKIN. 

OSAGE INDIAN AGENCY, July -, 1885. 
I hereby certify upon honor that I, W . H. Connor, whose name is signed to a peti­

tion of the business committee of the Osage Nat ion al'!ldng the Secretary of the Interior 
to pay the late firm of Hiatt & Co., Indian traders at the Osage Agency, the sum of 
$16,759.99, and that said business committee made a most thorough iuYestigation of 
the books and items of credits given by said firm of Hiatt & Co. to the Osage Indians 
in a time of emergency, it being just at the time of the failure of the last buffalo hunt 
on the plains, and without such extension of credit, both on tho plains and at the 
agency, very great suffering must have been the result. We had Mr. Gay, chief clerk 
of saill firm, with tho books and accounts, both the personal accounts rmd the items 
thereof, and after a long and patient investigation were clearly of the opinion th~~t 
the account as fixetl and settled by us was a just account, and in justice ought to be 
paid. 

In testimony of which I hereunto set my hand. 

Witness: 
CHARLES B. CORNISH, 
w. E. McGuiRE. 

J. M. HIATT: 

W. H. CONNOR. 

SENECA, NEWTON COUNTY, MISSOURI, 
September 2, 1885. 

DEAR Sm: You ask if I know anythin~ of the books and papers of Hiatt & Co., 
for some months previous to their being sent to you. I only know this, that when 
Mr. Gay, who had been your book-keeper for years, left the agency, he gave the books 
an<l papen; of Iltatt & Co. into the keeping of m~- hnsbancl, Norris Tisdal e. 'l'his 
wad sotne t ituc 111 1881. Tlwy wm·e piled up in our co UlllHlll liviu p:-roottt , acC<'::>s ihlc 
to everybody; in fact, tuany pe~·:-;ons did come it~ a.n~l ove~·h!1ul them. Hai r of tlwlll 
might have uecu takou away w1thout my knowmg 1t. llcfore NoJTis tLul ltl' went 
over tlw p:qwn; aud hurut. a Luge unmber t.lmt he thought. Ullllecos~~tt'.Y 1(, preser\e, 
I have uo donht tl1e accounts yon can not find wNe amo11g the pa.perA burned, bnt 
have uo kuowletlgP of tlw missiug books. They, or what was left of them, were boxed 
up and sent to your atldress, Keokuk, Iowa. 

Very truly, yours, 
FANNIE MATHES. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me at my office in Seneca, Mo., this 2d day of Sep­
tember, 1885. 

,J. M. J3oYD1 Nota?'!! Pnblic. 
My commission rx pires Novrmhct 1U1 1888. 
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SIR: At the time of the action of the Osage I no ian Committee, August, 1880, and 
for several years preceding, I bad S.Jle charge of the Looks of Hiatt & Co., licensed 
traders at Osage Agency. I was familiar with the accounts that make up their cl81im 
from the beginning. The accounts were just and correctly kept, and the goods 
therein charged were furnished the Indians at fair prices, and were needed, 

The credits were given in the belief that at the subsequent and following payments 
the ca.sh per capita payments would be largely increased, but on the contrary the 
pay mentA we:re reduced to a mere nominal snm. The credits were given at the e'1rnest 
l'equest of leading men of the Osage Nation and with tho knowledge antl avproval of 
the agent. The list of accounts-and addition of the same, making an aggregate of 
$16,759.99, were made with the utmost care and are correct~ 

On my leaving the agency, which I did soon afterwards, I left the books, itemized 
accounts, papers, etc., in charge of Norris Tisdale. He died, and what became of the 
books and papers thereafter I have no knowledge. 

T. R. GAY. 
The COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS, 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
Washington, D, C. 

San Diego County, 88 : 

T. R. Gay, being duly sworn, upon oath says that the foregoing statement is true of 
his own knowledge. 

T.R.GAY. 

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 21st day of September, 1885. 
[SEAL.] D. C. REED, 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
Co·unty of San Diego, 88: 

Notary Public. 

In the matter of Hiatt & Co. against the Osage Nation, for goods furnished them. 

The CoMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS, 
Washington, D. C.: 

SIR: I recently made a sworn sta.tement with reference to the above matter, but 
because it is not sufficiently explicit in all particulars I make this snpplemental 
statement. 

In the year ltl80 this account, amounting to $16,759.99, was fully itemized, and 
when I was present presented to the busines~ committee of the Osage Nation, acting 
as a council, and composed of Joseph Pawnee no pashe, governor, Big Chief, Strike 
Axe, Black Dog, and W. H. Connor. 

They, in my presence, made a careful and thorough examination of it, and pro­
nounced it correct, jnst, and satisfactory in every particular and item. 

At the time they examined and approved this account they were duly authorized 
to do so and to act as a bu~iness commit t ee for and council of the nation by the 
Osage tribe of Indians. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 
County of San Diego, 88 : 

T. R. GAY. 

T. R. Gay, being duly sworn, says that the foregoing statements made and sub­
scribed by him are true. 

T. R. GAY. 
Personally appeared before me, a notary public within antl for the county of San 

Diego, State of California, T. R. Gay, to me well known to be a credible person, who 
AUbscribcd and made oath to t.ho foregoi n~ i>t at ernent ueforc InC. 

In witness whereof l lmve hereunto set my hantl and affixed my notarial seal this 
3d day of December, A. D. l c::i5. 

J. 0. W. PAINE, 
Notary Public. 

This claim, with the request of the governing body, was presented to 
the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, and, after much delay and inaction, 
was returned to J. M. lliatt indorsed ~'Barred by tlte statute of limita· 
tions," as appeared by the following letter: 

Hon. L. Q. C. LAMAR, 
Sem·etat·y of the Interior: 

WASHINGTON, D. C., August 18, 1886. 

DEAR Sn~: Referring to .your communi?atiou of to-llay as to objections in tlie way 
?f the p~tY,fn.ent of_ tho cl~tm _of J. M. H1att, I would most respectfully give ~11 the 
informatiOn m my possess1un 1n reply to the same. 
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Your first ohjection, "This invm;t,igation sho\YS tlutt Raid claim hn.s never yet been 
JH'OHcntl'tl to or con~;idered by t.he ludian Oilic•e." l dicl pn':sent the clairu1 with q,Jl 
the papers and cvideucc> now 011 lite in the caHe, to t,he Comtuissiouer of IJI(li:tn Af­
fairl:l. AfLer some time had elapHc>d they were roturued to me indorsed, "Harre(l by 
the ~:~tatnte of limitations" (ol' wonlH t.o that etl'Pct), eit.her on tho hack of the papers 
or on tho b:tck of tl10 <'llVPlopc cont:tini11g thom. I was infornu~<l Vf'rhnlly that the 
statuto of limitatious would he uo ohstnwliou to the cousidemtiou of the claim by 
Congress, and I suppose t.he papers being so indorsetl was why tho Indian commit­
tees of the Senate atul Honse of Representatives did not refer the bill to the Indian 
Office !or information. 

The next objection is, "Tlw claim is against incliviclnals of the tribe and not the 
tribe as a whole, :1ml therefore can not be propllr1y paiu out of tl.te tribal fund." I 
beg leave to suggest that the credit was asked for b.Y tlw governor, chiefs, and head­
men for tho entire Osage people, au<l not for any hand, sectinn, or part of them. 

The UnitNl ~t.aWti Indian agent for the Osages at that time, Cyrns Beede, asked 
for, approved, ancl i11dorl:!ed l.lw extended credit for all, not a part. The evidence 
dearly l'rovcs that great care was t~tken by Hiatt & Co., in tho sale of the goods, by 
the Nnployment of the United 81 at.es iuterpreler, Paul Akin, an educated Imlian, and 
t•.hiofs,.:wd lH':td-nwu, notably· Govemor Jm, (to wl10ru Hiatt ga.ve a note for $200 for 
toJ(ll'Vi<;o::; iu the l:!tom «lnriug the t:ln.le of tltc gooclH), so t.l1at evet·y iudividual member 
of all thn tribe shonl«l receive theit· fair· proportion. From the •·vidence on this point 
it. is clifticult t.o suo how any claim dearly in e«JUity and jul4tice eonld be more 
natiouul; it wa~:~ so regtwdetl hy the ~overnor of 1,he O~;age~:~ aud ~awuel Bevenew, 
]wad chief of tue ha,lf-breocls, both educated :md iotelligeut men, and all the princi­
Jial chiefs and heatl-nwn of the tribe in office aml authority at the time. As to their 
power to make payment, etc., it seems from tho evidence tboy were the only parties 
acting :tt the time for the Osage tribe of Indian~:~, and tl.tey did act elficiently in 
makiug tho debt, and hy the advice ana approval of Unito«l States Indian Agent 
lleode; and I apprehend if Agent Beede had remained in office the claim would long 
sinee have been paid to the satisfaction of all parties. 'l'he difficnlty, as I under­
stand it, grew ont of the hm;tility of his successor, be being averse to the payment of 
the claim. 

As to tho report of December 30, 1880, submitted to the Indian Office, gotten up, as 
I understand, by the agent and competing Indian traders, who considered their in­
tc1rests adverse to its payment; but evtm they uou't make their seventeen chiefs signing 
their communication deny the existence of a deht; t.ho worst they malm them say is, 
•1noting the secretary'!:! comwuuicatiou of ycstenlay, "As we arc not.aware of our peo­
ple taking bnt little credit thnrc." It is uot at all Atrango, when the extended credit 
was not. contemplated to bl~ mom tlmn one-half of t.he expected anuuity of $15 per 
capita, and probably did uot mnch exceed that amount, when we consider that the last 
butl~tlo huut had proved a failure, a.nd they had to look to other sources for next 
$7, $8, or even $10 per capita tin· clothing, bmatlst.nff, groceries, meat, and all tl.tey 
would very naturally consider "they were t.aking hut little creclit there." Being very 
poorly able to wt·itc at all, ltuust submit this, imperfect as it is. 

I aru, truly yours. 
w. G. CoFFIN, 

.Attm'ney in fact fm· J. M. Hiatt. 

PETITION TO CONGRESS. 

The claim was then submitted to the Forty-ninth Congress and the 
following bill passed: 

[PRIVA'fE.-No. 633.] 

AN ACT for the relief of ,J. M. Hiatt, only surviving partner of Hiatt & Co. 

Be it enacted by the Senate anll House of lltpn:sentatives of the United States of America 
f1t Congress ctllsembled, That tho Secretary of the 'l'reasury be, and he is hereby, au­
~horized and directed to pay to J. M. Hiatt, only surviving partner of Hiatt & Com­
pany, late Lrader::; ior tl.te Osage tribe of Indians, out of any money in the Treasury ac· 
¢ruing to t.lw Osage tribe of Jndiaus by act of Congress approved June sixteen, ono 
thous~tml eight hundred aud eighty, the mn of sixtioeu thousand seven hundred and 
f}fty-mne dollar!:! aud uinety-nine cents, or so much thereof as may he found actu~lly 
due the claimant aft,or an investi~atiou of the fact by the Secretary pf the InteriOr, 
which sum ~:~hall be in full satisfaction of tho daim of the said Hiatt&. t:owp~ny aR~~q~:~~ 
the Osage tribe of ludiam; for good~; f)Old them ou u,u extended cred1.t! · ' 

Approved, July 14? 1886. 
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The bill was favorably and unanimously reported by the committees 
of bot~ the Senate and the House, the report being as follows : 
The Comntittec on Indian Affai1's, to which u1as ·referred the bill (S. 1942) for the '1'eliej of 

Hiatt~· Co., respectfully submits thefollmving report: 

A careful examiuation of the testimony on file in this case abundantly shows that 
the report of tho Commi tteo on Jll(lian Affairs of the Honse of Uepresentatives at the 
present session on a bill having the same object in view as Senate bill1942 is sustained 
by facts, and is adopted, as follows: 

On a full examination we find the facts in this case to be as follows: Tho claimants, 
Hiatt & Co., were duly licensed traders fo1· the Osage tribe of Indians at the Osage 
Agency (Pqhnska), Indian Territory, during the year 1878. The Indians being in 
very great destitution and suffering both for food and clothing, owing to the failure 
of Congress to make adequate appropriation for their support, as it bad done for the 
two yea,rs next preceding-the reduction being $200,000-it is a fact w~ll supported 
by evidence that nearly, if not quite, all the chiefs, councilors, governor, and head­
men of the Osage tribe of Indians ma{le a stroug and pitiable appeal to said traders, 
backed up by Cyl'lls Beede, United States Indian agent for the Osage Indians at the 
time. to extend to them a credit of from $8 to $10 per capita, promising payment out 
of their next annuity, which was expect.ed to be ample for the purpose; but instead 
of being .$15 per capita, as expected, it was r~<luced to little over $3 per capita, so that 
the pavment out of that was impossiiJle. It is well supported by ovid.ence that said 
traders were very eareful in making such extendecl credit, having the adviee an(l as­
sistance of ~:~orne of the ehiefs, Governo1· Joe (a full-blood, though an educated man), 
and Paul Akin, United States interpreter, and the then Indian agent, Cyrus Beetle, so 
that the goo<lfl and supplies might be fairly distributed to all the families aml iudi­
viduals of the tribe. Before the appropriations were adequate to the payment of the 
amount of the extended credit ($16, 759.~9) Cyrus Beede was superseded, and the claim­
ants fonml that in consequence of a change of agents an appeal would have to be 
made to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs for it.s payment, and in tho month of Au­
gust, lt!l:iO, a most thorough and searching investigation was made of all tho items 
composing such extended credit before t.he governor, chief, councilors, and head-men 
and head chiefs, acting as a business committee, together with Paul Akin, United 
States intet·prcter, and Mr. Gay, chief clerk of Hiatt & Co., who was present with the 
books and itemized accounts, and after a long and careful investigation the amount 
above stated was found to be due said firm, as fnlly appeat·s by the petition for its 
payment out, of their funds iu the custody of the Government signed by the chiefs and 
bead-men, w bicb petition is as follows: 

To tlte honomble Secretm·y of the Interior: 
Tbe undersigned, the governor, chief, councilors, and head chiefs, constituting the 

business committee of the Osage tribe of Indians, respectfully ask that yon pay to 
Hiatt & Co. the sum of $16,759.~9 out of the money accruing to us by act of Congress 
approved June 16. 1t!80. 

The above sum is the correct aggregate of accounts against onr people for supplies 
furnished them, and which they have hitherto been unable to pay. 

'l'he accounts are correct, the supplies were needed and had, and as honest men we 
desire payment to be made as promptly as possible. 

To that end we make this requisition upon you, and this shall be our receipt for tho 
same. 

JOSEPH PARD NE NO PARIIE, 
Govt->rn01' of the Nation. 

STRIKE Ax (his x mark), Chie}~ 
BIG CHIEF (his x mark). 
BLACK DOG (his X mark). 
HARD ROP1<; (his X mark). 
N. H. CONNOI~. 

Interpreted fully aml signed. 
Explained in our presence, Osage Agency, Ind. T., August 17, 1880. ' 

W. P. ADAIR. 
TIIOS. R. GAY. 
DANIEL TERDALL. 

I herel)y certifY that I am entirely familiar with the character. origin, and amount 
of Hiatt & Co.'l:l claim of $1G,759.99 against the Osagel:l, payment of which has been 
asked uy the governOI' aml chiefs of the tri IJe. I advised giving the creilit, and inter­
preted largely for the Indians wheu. they traded; that I also interpreted and ex­
plained fully the order they have given tor the payment. 

Osage Agency, Ind. 'l'., August 17, 1880. 
PAUL AKIN, 

United States Interpreter. 
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The evidence of the then agent in support of the claim is as follows: 

OSKALOOSA, lOW A, December 1, 1885. 
I certify on honor that I have examined the statement of J. M. Hiatt, ofthelatefil'lll 

of Hiatt & Co., licensed traders at Osage Agency, Ind. T., and believe the sa.meto be 
substantially correct. 

I was United States Indian agent for the Osage Indians from the early part of the 
year 1876 to about the 20th of July, 1878. During a great portion of this time the 
Osages were in a peculiar state of destitution, owing to the failure of Congress to 
m:,Lke adequate appropriation for their support, as it had done for the two years next 
preceding, the item of reduction being $200,000, and at times these Indians were re­
duced to huuger and altogether too near nakedness. 

At times durin~ my adminit'ltration, ou the earnest aud pitiable appeal of almost 
every leading Ind1an of the t.ri be (and in accordance with my own j ndgment as neces­
sary, based upon actual observation of their destitution), I encouraged the licensed 
traders to credit them to the extent of furnishing limited amounts of subsistence and 
clothing to relieve suffering, trusting the promises of the Indians to settle these ac­
counts at times of annuity payments, knowing full well that the tribe had ample 
funds at the disposal of the Government (whenever the same could be made available) 
to meet all such liabilities without embarrassment, 

The precise amount of credit given I am unable to state at this time without access 
to data not just now at hand. 

That portion of this debt contracted during my administration I believe to bejust, 
and that the same should be paid out of Osage funds, in accordance with the expressed 
wish of the tribe, all as I very believe. 

CYRUS BEEDE. 
STATE OF IowA, Mahaska Coztnty, 88: 

Subscribed and affirmed to before me this 3d day of December, 1685 . 
.1!-.. E. SMlTH, 

Clerk District Court, a Court of Record. 

OsAGE AGENCY, IND. T., August 20, 1880. 
Hon. COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS: 

SIR: The governoroftl1e Osages and a number of the chiefs have directed or peti­
tioned the honorable Secretary of the Interior to pay a claim of $16,759.99, due to 
Hiatt & Co. from said tribe. · 

.As chief of the balf-IJreed band, and having a better knowledge perhaps of the 
origin and character of said claim than any other chief, I unite with them in earnestly 
nsking that the claim be promptly paid as requested. The Indians and others were 
l.etl to believe that the payment of about $15 per hea1l in January, 1878, would be con­
tinued at substantially that sum. In that belief! advised H. & Co. to give the Osages 
a credit for half the sum, knowing that it would greatly accommodate the Indians, 
and believing it would be entirely safe; but the subseq twnt payment and later ones, 
instead of $15, l1ave been bnt little over $3 per head. Their present needs absorbed 
this small sum at once, so there has been no time at which it was possible to pay a. 
debt made in good faith, and of which they reaped the full benefit. Knowing their 
ability to pay their C.ebts, and grateful for the accommodation, the honor and self­
respect of the Osages is concerned in the quick and full discharge of the debt. 

I have the honor to be, your obedient servant, 

Witness: 
J. H. TISDALE. 

SAMUEL BEIVNEW, 
Head Chief of Half-Bt"eed Band. 

The claimant is a resident of Keokuk, Iowa, and is a confirmed invalid, and could 
not appear before your committee, or furnish an itemized statement of his accounts, 
for reasons stated in the affidavit; but Hon. Samuel :I!-.. Miller, of the Supreme Court, 
assured your committee that he was a man of unqestioned integrity, and would not, 
in his jndgment, press an unjnst account. 

Your committee are fully convinced that the Indians are indebted to the claimant 
in a large snm, and that it is their desire to pay the amount due, and as they have 
more than $fl,OOO,OOO in the Treasury of the United States, your committee recom­
mend the passage of the bill with an amendment. 

l'he affidavit of Samuel Boivnew, head chief of the half-breed band, is also reported 
herewith as evidence of t,hc bona fides of t.he claim, and the claim having been inves~ 
tigated and found correct by the business committee of the Indians may be accepted 
as an account stated. 
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In the mean time the 11ew Indian agent, L. J. Miles, sent the follow­
ing papers, signed by the chiefs and some of the head men, to the Sec­
retary of the Interior : 

UNITED STATES INDIAN SERVICE, 
Osage Agency, December 23, 1880. 

DEAlt SIR: Some time ago quite a number of the chiefs and other Indians came to 
the agency, and after counseling a day or two came to the office and asked that the 
incloseil petition be written, which they signed and wanted forwarded to your office. 
I have hesitated to forward the same, thinking it of little consequence, believing that 
your office would not entertain a claim unless it was made clear, but at a sincere re­
quest I forward it herewith. 

Mr. H. spoke to me once about his claim, but, not knowing any of the particulars, 
I declined to have anything to do with it, only to acknowledge that a few of the In­
dians bad mentioned to me that they were indebted to him. 

Yours, respectfnlly, · 
L. J. MILES1 

..d. gent. 
Hon. R. E. 'TROWBRIDGE, 

Indian Comntiss~oner. 

To the honorable COMMISSIONER OF INDIAN AFFAIRS and honorable SECRETARY OF 
INTERIOR: 
DEAR SIRs: We the undersigned, chiefs and head-men ofthe Osage Nation, having 

heard that a few of our head-men have signed a paper authorizing the payment out 
of our funds of a debt claimed by one of our traders, "Hiatt & Co .. " to the amount of 
over $16,000, we respectfully ask that before said claim is paid you appoint some 
person to thoroughly investigate the same and consult with our people about it, a,s 
we are not aware of our people taking but little credit there. 

Very respectfully, yours, 
To-WAN-GE-HE (his x mark). 
NE-KAII-KE-PAH-NE (his x mark). 
WILLIAM PENN (his X mark). 
SA-PA-KE-A (his x mark). 
WI-HO-PA.-SHIN-KA (his x mark). 
WA-TE-AN-KA (his x mark). 

Chiefs. 
KI-HE-KAH-WA-TI-AN-KAT (his x mark). 
LITTLE CHIEF (his X mark). 
W. SIS-TAH-WATI-AN·KER (his x mark). 
WI-IIO-TAH-WAH-NAH-SHE (his x mark). 
MO-SHON-0-LI-KAH (his x mark). 
WAH-PAH-KEH-AH, or WHITE DoG (his x mark). 
WILD CAT (his x mark). 
HoN-LAH-HUN-KALL (his x mark). 
JO MESHELL (his X mark). 
WoH-NO-PAH-SHE (his x mark.) 
CYPRIAN FA YRIEN, 
PETER C. BIGHEART, Captain of Police. 

I certify on honor that the foregoing paper was signed in my presence by the per­
sons whose n~,mes are affixed, after being fully interpreted by Peter C. Bigheart, cap­
tain of police. 

L. J. MILES~ .Agent. 

When the Secretary of the Interior came to carry out the provisions 
of the bill and adjust and settle the claim with J. M. Hiatt he felt it to 
be his duty to make further inquiry into its justice and correctness, and 
be directed an Indian inspector, Frank C. Armstrong, to proce~d to the 
Indian agency. 

Secretary Lamar's instructions were as follows: 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERlOR, 
Washington, October 13, 1886. 

SIR: You have been instrncte(l by letter of this date to proceed to the O~age and 
other agencies in the Indian Terri tory. 

On the 30th ultimo a Jetter was addressed by ihis Department to Inspector R, S. 
Gardner, inclosing certa.ln papers in the claim of J. M. Hiatt, surviving partner of 
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Hiatt & Co., late tratlerR at the Osage Agency. This letter was sent by registered 
mail to Arkansas City, Kaus. 

You will procum, before leaving this city, such authority from or make such ar­
rangements with t.he Post,-Oflice Department as will enable you t,o receive and receipt 
for that rogistere.-1 communication when you reach Arkansas City, and you will carry 
out the instructions contained in sairl letter to Inspector Garduer, making the in ves­
tigation anu report required on the claim. 

Very respectfully, 

General F. C. AR.MSTIWNG, 

L. Q. c. LAMAR, 
Secretary. 

United States Indian Inspector, Washington, D. C. 

DEPARTMENT OJ<~ THE INTERIOR, 
Washington, Septentber :~0, 1886. 

SIR: I inclose herewith the papers in the claim of J. M. Hiatt, surviviug part,ner 
of Hia,tt & Co., late tratlors tor the Osage llHlians, during the year 1878, amounting 
to $16,759,g9, adjudication of which is provided for by the act of Jnly 14, 188fi (pri­
vate, No. 633, copy inclosed), ''after an investigation of tho facts by the Secretary 
of the Interior.'' 

The facts as presented in the evidence are fully, clearly, and fairly set fort,h in the 
House and Senate reports here with, numbered 1475 and R2g, respectively, of the l!,orty­
ninth Congress, first session. Both committees reachell the general conclusion that 
the evidence e~:~tahlishetl tlw fact that the traders were justified in ~ranting the credit; 
that the Indians are illlleuted to the claimant in a large sum, aud Umt the account 
against the Indians is fairly stated, aud is an honest account; anu that, the claim 
having been investigated and found correct by the business committee of the tribe, 
it may be accepted as au account stated. 

'fbe business committee was created by an act of the council of U376 (copy inclosed), 
and authorized, inter alia, "to examine anu act on behalf of -the tribe on all matters 
of claims against the tribe, individual bands, or members thereof.'' Their work in 
this case seems to have been clearly within the scope of their authority nuder that act. 
They represented the tribe, examined the claim, a~:~certained the amount due, and 
recommended payment thereof out of the tribal funds. Tbnir findingA arf" corrobo­
rated by othm· evidence. (See letter of Samuel Bei vne w, head -chief of tho Lialf-breed 
band; letter of nx-Aw·nt Beetle; certificate of Paul Alwn, United States interpreter, 
antl affidavit of clerks at the tirne in the employ of the firm.) 

In 1~0 L. J. Miles, who has succeeded Cyrus Beede as ageut for t.he Osagf's, for­
warded to the Indian Office a paper to whiPll the names of a number of chioi~and head­
men are attaclwd, ref]ncsting that the clairn of Hiatt & Co., before it is paid, be in­
vestigated, giving as a reason that "we are not aware of ourpeople taking but little 
credit there." In li:l86 a paper was filed in the Indian Office, signed. by Black Dog, 
principal chief; Panl Aken, Peter C. Big heart, awl E. M. Matbewt:~, as (lelegates, mp­
reseuting the Osage Nation of Indians, reqnesting that certain class of claims pre­
sented against the Osage Nation be first referred to the national council for investi­
gation and allowance or disallowance before payment. 

This paper can hardly be construed as embracing within its general t,erms this 
claim of J. M. Hiatt, surviving partner of Hiatt & Co., since it bas been examined, 
the arnount ascertained, aud a request formulated and addressed by the business com­
mittee of the tribe to the tJommissioner of Indian Affairs requesting its payment. 
It bas not been rejected Lly the Osage council, aud was not presented without the 
knowledge of the Osages. The delegates had knowledge of these facts, for one of 
them (Black Dog) signed the business committee's report on the case, and another, 
Paul Akeu, interpreted for the business committee at the time of their investigation, 
and also added his certificate as to the jnstice of the claim. · 

The law directs the Secretary of the Treasury to pay the sum appropriated 
($16, 759.99), or "so much thereof as may be found actually due the claimant after au 
inve~:~tigation of the facts by the Secretary of the Interior." 

'l'he examination of the record and evidence in the case reasonably convinces me 
that the Indians are justly inclebted to the claimant for necessar.v supplies furnished 
them upon credit at the solicitation of their chief.-; autl heatl-men, aud that be was 
cmconra.~etl thereto by the United ~tatet:~ agout and the Uniterl States interpr~ter; 
that thB individuals and families failed to settle the indebtedness thns iucurred, be­
canso of the l:1rg-e aml mwxpeetccl dC't~rea.i'H in thnir per capit,a. annuity payment 
whieh f'ollowou, aull out of wbicb claimant had bcou asstu·otl of payrrwut, ; that the 
triue, tbrough its business committee, has examined the claint, a~;certaiued the amount 
due, aud has requested payment thereof out of the tribal funds . . 
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I am nware that there are many difficnlti(1s in tho way of such a thorough investi­

gation of snch a case as will at this distance of time enable you to proeure original 
evidence of tho items. values, and character or thfl articles furnished t,he Indians. 
Many of tlw Indians are dead; otherR may l1ave imperfect recollections of the (letails 
of the ca,se, and still others may have become prejudiced ngainst or unfavorable to the 
payment oftlw claim by the operation of influences which do not really afft1ct it.s 
merits or jus1,uol'>s; hnt such an iuvestigatiou can be made of the oasc as wiH euahlo 
you to determine generally whether supplies to the amount charged wer'e furnished; 
whether tho examination oftJJe aceonnts by the ln1sinoRs committee of tho tribe was 
honestly and fairly made, and whether, upon all the facts in the case and information 
obtainable thereon, J . .M. Hiatt, surviving partner of Hiatt & Co., is justly cnt.itled 
to pa.yn~cnt of tlw snm foniHl due by the business committee of the tribe in fnll sat­
isfaction of tlle claim. 

Upon receipt of tltesA papers yon will proceed to the Osage Agency, Ind. T., make 
the investigation of tlw case thns indicatell, aml report the result to this Depart­
ment, roturning the inclosed papers with your report. 

V cry respectfully, 

Col. R. S. GARDNER, 

L. Q. c. LAM:AI{, 
Secretm·y. 

United States Inspectm·, Ignacio, La Plata Connty, Colo. 

At this time the originallndia.n agent, Beede, had been succeeded by 
anew agent, L. J. Miles, who was hm~tile to Hiatt. Several of the In­
<Hans who had urged the payment of Hiatt's claim were dead; man.v of 
the white men who were eognizant of the facts were dead or scattered; 
new Indian traders were interested in defeating tl1e claim and securing 
the good will of the Indians, as customers and otherwise, awl the Indi­
ans themselves, after so much delay and change of circumstances, could 
be easily induced to repudiate or avoid its. payment. The result of the 
investigation, co1ulucted ex parte and in the absence of Hiatt, who was 
then upon his death-bed, might ha ,·e been predicted with almost abso­
lute certainty. 

'l'HE EVIDENCE. 

The only evidence taken by the Indian interpreter is as follows: 

QUF.STIONS l'UT BY INSPECTOR ARMSTRONG. 

P.AWHUSKA, OsAGI<~ AGENCY, IND. '.r., Nove'mber 1, 1886. 
(1) '\V. H. Connor, ·were yon on t.lw business committee of the council who exam, 

ined the claim of Hiatt & Co. , iu August, 1880 f 
I was one of the committee. 
(2) Did your com mit.tce investigate each account :.md the amount f 
The amount was read before the committee, llut no investigation was made. 
(3) Were you promised any crodits or payment of money if this dairu was passed, 

by Hiatt & Co., or others~ 
No, I was not. 
(4) Was Col. W. P. Adair present, and did he examine the books and papers for 

your committee¥ 
No, not as I know; but Adair was here at tho time. 
(5) How do you know whether or not the amount due Hiatt & Co. amounts to 

$16, 759.99? 
Tho bill was read to us, and that was the amount they stated-$16, 759.99. 
(6) Do you know whether or not Governor Joe or others was prowised payment if 

this claim was passed and paid? 
No; all I know about the matter was that Miles, our former agent, said such a paper 

wns found with the governor, showing that they had such an obligation. 
(7) Could this certificate from the business committee l1a.vc been ohtainefl without 

some promise of payments to the mem hers a.ud others of influence in the tribe? 
So far as I know ruyselfindividua1ly, i! the account had been. properly investigated 

it could have passed the committee without any payments to the members. 
W. H. CONNOR. 

The questions above written were answered by W. H. Connor in ltis own haucl­
writing and sworn to before me this 1sL flay of Novemlmr, 1886 . 

• JAMES I. DAVID, 
United States Indian Agent. 
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UNITED STATES INDIAN SERVICE, 
Osage Agency, Ind. T., October 28, 1886. 

Paul Aken says : 
I was not present when the books and accounts of Hiatt & Co. were examined, nor 

do I know whether or not they were examined. I believe there was something due 
Hiatt & Co., but I do not know the amount. I did help to issue the goods, and ex­
plained to the Indians the credit they were ~etting. When I signed the certificate 
dated August 17, 1880, I did not understand 1t to mean that I was acquainted with 
the details or amount, but only the general facts that they had a credit. I did not see 
W. P. Adair at the time, as I was not there when the certificate of the business com­
mittee was signed. 

PAUL AKEN. 
Witness: 

J AS. I. DAVID, United States Indian Agent. 

Sworn to and signed in my presence this 28th day of October, 1886, a.t Osage 
Agency, Ind. T. 

FRANK C. ARMSTRONG, 
United States Indian Inspector. 

UNITED STATES INDIAN SERVICE, 
Osage Agency, Ind. T., October 27, 1886. 

Black Dog, chief of Osages, says tha.t he clocs not believe that the Osages owed 
Hiatt & Co. the amount claimed. He says that he did not see the books, but be saw 
a number of accounts. Some of the Osag~s owed large accounts. I wa.s told by the 
others, Big Chief, Ha.rd Rope, W. H. Connor, aud Governor Joe, that thoy wanted to 
pay Hiatt & Co., a.nd I signed the pa.per with the business committee. 

BLACK DOG. 
Witness: 

Jos. I. DAVID, United States Indian Agent. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., October 28, 1886. 
T. L. Rogers says the business committee that signed a.nd recommended the claim 

of Hiatt & Co. wero appointed by the agent, Cyrus Beede. These were put on that 
committee beca.use they were fa.vorable to the claim known as ''Ada.ir claim." There 
was no man on the business committee who was competent, except Connor, who could 
examine accounts. 

There had been two na.tional debts pa.id similar to this. It was distinctly under­
stood that no other claims should be made, and that all accounts after that were to 
be collected at the payments and at traders' risk. This claim was before the council 
last fail ; they refused to pass it. 

T. L. ROGERS. 
Witness: 

JOHN McFALL, Clerk. 

Sworn to and signed before me this 28th October, 1886, at Osage Agency, Ind. T. 
FRANK C. ARMSTRONG, 

United States Indian Inspector. 

OSAGE AGENCY, IND. T., October 2, 1886. 
Mr. John N. Florer says: I was a trader at this agency at the time the claim of 

Hiatt & Co. was brought before the business committee in 1880. I know that Mr. 
Hiatt had some accounts against the Indians, but I do not know the amounts. It 
was generally understood that the a.mounts were not very la.rge. I know a.lso that 
Hiatt & Co. allowed some of the business committee, Hard Robert, Governor Joe, 
and others, to come into his store and make acconnts at from $2 to $500. They told 
me that they were a.llowed this credit in consideration of their being members of the 
business committee before when Hiatt & Co. had a claim to he adjusted. Before 
Governor Joe died ho sent for me and told me that Hiatt & Co. had promised to give 
$500 additional in cash when the cla.im that ha.d passed the committee was paid, a.nd 
asked me to see that his widow received the money. He died that day. I believe 
that there is due Hia.tt & Co., three or four thousa.nd dollars, a.nd he had opportunity 
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to coJlect it, but I do not believe there is any more due. I further know that L. J. 
Miles, ex-agent, requested Hiatt & Co., or their representative, Mr. Gay, to bring 
forward their books and call the wdividual Indians up and be would investigate each 
individual account himself, and have the Indians present. This they declined to do. 
This claim has been before the council and they have always asked for the books and 
investigation, but they never could get any books. 

I believe that the signatures to the certificate of the business committee were pro­
cured by the undue influence in the way of credits in store and promises of additional 
paymontl:l in money when tho claim should be paid. The time that Hiatt. & Co. claim 
that they could not collect their money and the Indians were suffering, I gave credit 
and collected all t.bat was due me. Only a few years before, the Government, with the 
consent of the Indians, had paid us all claims held by traders against Osages, with 
the distinct understanding among us, and signed a paper to that effect, that we were 
to depend only upon collections from the payments and not present any more claims. 
Hiatt & Co. ~:~igned the agreement with me, and also Captain Coy & Co. 

JOHN N. FLORER. 
Test: 

H. P. BRANHAM. 

Sworn to and signed before me, at Osage Agency, Indian Territory, 0 ctober 28, 1886 
FRANK C. ARMSTRONG, 

United StateB Indian InBpector. 

Upon this meager evidence the inspector made the following report: 

Hon. L. Q. C. LAMAR, 
ARKANSAS CITY, KANS., November 2, 1886. 

Secreta1'!J of the Interim·: 
SIR: In accordance with instructions from your office, I have been to the Osage 

Agency and investigated as far as possible the circumstances attending the exami­
nation of and passage by the business committee of the Osage council, 1880, the 
claim of Hiatt & Co. against the Osage tribe. 

From the papers placed in my possession giving a full history of the claim and all 
the evidence given the committee of Congress on which the two reports were based 
and. payment recommended, the claim appears just, and Hiatt & Co. are entitled to 
pay therefor. Experience having taught me that the indorsements by Indian dele­
gations and councils where large claims have been made by white men are sometimes 
obtained by improper influences, I thought it best to ascertain the manner of exami­
nation made by the business committee of the books and accounts of Hiatt & Co. 
I am of the opinion that there was no close or careful investigation made by the 
committee or any members thereof of the accounts or books of Hiatt & Co. That 
Mr. Ga.y, the chief clerk and book-keeper of Hiatt & Co., merely presented his state­
ment, and that Governor Joe and some others hau been influenced by promises of 
money and crfldit to agree to sign and use their influence to get others to sign it. 
'£here was no man representin~ the Osages on the committee who could read or tell 
anything about an account it it had been r-;hown him, except W. H. Connor. He 
says in his statement, made November 1, 1886 (yesterday), that no examination was 
made of the books or accounts. (~ee his statement inclosed, marked A.) 

His character for integrity or truth is very doubtful, and no man who knows him 
would rely upon him. He alsv says that he does not re,rnember seeing Col. W. P. 
Adair present at that time, although he was at the agency. He says also that had the 
claim ueeu properly investigated it would have passed the committee. This same 
claim has been thrown out and disapproved by the council since, because no book or 
papers could be produced for examination. 

I came via Keokuk, Iowa, and there called on Mr. Hiatt. He is an invalid, as rep­
resented, and broken np generally. He says his books were left in Mr. Tisdale's 
kee~ing, who died. His widow shipped the'books to Keokuk, and that they were 
ra!ti.ally destroyed, and at present no information can be gleaned therefrom, so that 
1t IS Impos~ibl~ to go into au investigation of the books or ac~oun~s. 

Paul Akm, mterpreter, whose first certificate great stress IS laid upon, now says 
that be was not present wh6n the books, etc., were before the business committee, 
a.Uhough his former certificate, filed with the original papers, distinctly says he in~ 
terpreted and advised in the case and investigation, and also that be knew the 
amount to be correct. This man understands English, is a half-breed, and can read 
and write,. He.knew wha~ be was Rigniug on both occasions, but on ~he last I put, 
the questwns directly to him, and from his looks and conduct at the time I am of the 
opini01_1 that but little .weig.ht can be given his opinions !lr statements w~ere his i:n­
terost 1s at stake, and 1n this case I believe he has an mterest. See his affidavit, 
markeu B, and then read the one printed in the report of Congressional committee. 
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The last I believe to be nearly the truth; that is, leaving out the part where he Bays 
he did not know what he was siguing. He did know very well. 

Black Dog, I be1ieve, has stated the trut.h in this statement, made October 27, 1886, 
before me. (See inclosure marked C.) He cannot read, and onl,y signs his name. 
He conhl not have examined or understood the accounts or books. He stated to me 
that W. P. Adair was not present. 

T. L. Rogers is an intelligent and educntcd half-breed. He is the judge for the 
Osago tribe under the council. He is well posted as to all the a1fahs of the Osage 
people. Tho claim be speaks of as the "Adair claim" is a very large one, outside and 
altogether different from the Hiatt claim, but it seems some of tbe parties interested 
in tho passage of the Hiatt claim are also interested in this "Adair claim" (see 
Rogers's statement, marked D, inclosed). I inclose herewith a statement of John N. 
Florer, formerly trader at Osa.O'e Agency, and at present clerl' for Mr. Branham, 

. trader at 0Aage Agency and the Gray Horse store (see inclosure marked E.) Samuel 
Beivnew, the ~alf-breed, is <lead. His widow says nothing was promised him by 
Hiatt & Co., but that be WOl'ked for Hiatt. She believes the claim just, and so did 
her husband. 

There is no way of getting at the amount actually due Hiatt & Co., though I be­
lieve there is something due, but not one-half that i~:~ claimed. 1 am satisfied that 
thPro never was any flxamination of the books or accounts of Hiatt & Co. by the 
committee. I do uot he1ieve W. P. Adair was present at any investigation or even 
cot1versation relative to the affair. W. H. Connor may have known t.be amount he 
recommended in the ce1·tificate, but no other member did. I believe the certificate 
of the business committee was obtained by corrupt influences and promises ~o pay, and 
that no one who was competent even looked over the books or papers of H1att & Co., 
representing tl1e interest of the Osages in the matter. I believe th<tt the amount was 
stated sufficiently large to pay Hiatt & Co. whatever might be due, a few thousand 
(]oJJars, and also to cover all fees, promises, etc., to the parties getting it through the 
committee and Department. · 

I return herewith the papers sent Inspector Gardner and receipted for by me. 
Respectfully, 

FRANK C. AUMSTRONG, 
United States I'll.dian Inspector. 

The Secretary of the Interior being in some uncertainty as to the 
proper course to be 1mrsued, communicated the facts to -~be President, 
who, on January 18, 1887, submitted the whole subject to Congress 
(Executive Document No. 35, Forty-ninth Congress, second session). 
To the Senate and House of Representatives : 

I transmit herewith a communication of the 7th ultimo, from the Secretary of the 
Interior, submitting, with accompanying papers, a draft of a bill "for the relief of 
Hiatt & Co., late traders for the Osage tribe of Indians, and for other purposes." 

The matter is presented for the consideration of Congress. 

EXECUTIVE MANSION, 
January 18, 1887. 

The PRESIDENT : 

GROVER CLEVELAND. 

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, 
Washington, December 7, 1886. 

I have the honor to submit herewith copies of the papers in the matter of the claim 
of J. M. Hiatt, surviving partner of Hiatt & Co., late traders for the Osag{'l tribe of 
Indians, amounting to $16,759.99, for goods alleged to have been sold to the Osage In­
dians during the year 1873. 

'!'be claim came before this Department for settlement under tbe act (private) "for 
the relief of J. M. Hiatt, only surviving partner of Hiatt & Co.," approved July 14, 
1~6 (Pam ph. Stat. 1885-'8&, page 199), appropriating "the snm of $16,759.99, or so 
much thereof as may be found actually due the claimant after au investigation ofthe 
facts by 1.he Secretary of the Interior, which sum shall be in full satisfaction of the 
claim of th() said Hiatt & Co. against the Osage tribe of Indians for goods sold them 
on an extended credit. " 

With the strong and favorable reports by a committee of each bouse of Congress, 
based upon what appeared to be eonclusive evidence of the justice of tile claim-evi­
dence which pmported to ~:>how that the claim bad been carefully investigated and 
admitted to be just and correct by the bu~:~iness committee of the t1·ibc, out of who~ 
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funils would be drawn the :l.mount. reqnirNl to mal<e tl1e settlement, ancl with the as­
surance of the high character of Mr. J. l\1. Hiatt and that he wonhl not present an 
unjust claim, I entered upon the consideration of the case with much confidence that 
it was meritorious and .i nst. But being mi udfu l that such ev ideuce a~:~ that presented 
in this case is procured witb. considerable facility, especially from Lndians, I deemed 
it best t(' have· such an invest.i:,r.ation made' as wonld at least enable me to determine 
the bona fides of the proofs in the • as('. Thi:,; itJ\'P:-dig-:ttion was intrw;;ted to one of 
the Indian inspectors of tllis lJepart.nwnt, a uopy of wi.Jose report with accompauy­
ing testimony is herewith inclosed, whemiu he expresses" the opiniou tltat there was 
no close or careful inveRtigation made by tho committee or any member thereof of 
the accounts or books of Hiatt & Co. ; that Mr. Gay, tl1e chief clerk and book-keeper 
of flial t & Co., lllereJ,,· prescnte(l llis :,;t,at,emeut, and that Governor Joe and some 
others bad been influenced by promise::; of money and credit to agree to sign and use 
their iniluence to get others to sign it." 

After reviewing the testimouy taken by him, comparing it with the previous ac­
tion ancl statements of some pa1·ties in the case, and showing how unreliable are all 
of sud1 statPmnnt.fl, t.flstimony, etc., he conc]ndcs as follows: 

'' TLterH is tto way of gettiug at the amonut actually due Hiatt & Co., though I be­
lieve f,here is something due, but not one-half tlmt is claimed. I am satisfied that 
there never was any examinat.ion of the books or accmmts of Hiatt & Co. by t,he 
committee. I do not believe W. P. Adail' waH present at any investigation or even 
conversation relaiive to the affair. \V. H Connor may have known the amount he 
recommended in the certifica1 e, lm t no other mcm het· did. I believe the cel'tificate of 
the business committee was obtaiue1l by corrupt influences and promises to pay, and 
t.ha,t no one wlto was compet.Pnt (lVCl' looked over the uoo]<s or papert~ of Hiatt & Co., 
Tepre;;entiug the interest ·of Hw Osages in the matter. I believe that the amonnt was 
stat.mlsnfficiently large to pay Hiatt & Co. whatever might be due, a few thousand 
dolhtrH, and also to cover a1l1ees, promises, etc., to the parties getting it through the 
committe!} and Department." 

While the case has been under consideration before me, a claim bas been set up by 
Mrt~. Elizabe1ihA. Leighton, of Keokuk, Iowa, as widow and administratrix ofWill­
iam Leighton, deceased, who, she-shows, was a partner with said J.l\f. Hiatt, for a time 
at least, in tho business out of which this claim grows, and uy the terms of copartner­
ship entitled to an equal share in tl10 profits, etc., of said bnsiuoss. 

The law provides only for a payment to J. M. Hiatt, as only surviving partner of 
11 iatt & Co.; aml it further providos t ha1 such payment shall be in full satisfaction 
of the claim of :Hiatt & Co. agaiust the Osage tribe of Indians. 

In view of the foregoing facts I have not felt jnstifiod iu st.ating and reporting to 
the Secretary of the Treasury any account of the claim for allowance and payment 
to J. M. Hiatt under the law. 

I am satisfied that something is due from the Indians for supplies fnrnished by 
Hiatt & Co., but do not believe that they are entitled to be paid the full amount 
claimed. 

After carefu1ly weighing the evidence and reports in the case, I am of opinion 
that one-half of the sum claimed, viz, $tl,3o0, would cancel the indebtedness of the 
Osage tribe of Indians to Hiatt & Co. in the matter of this claim; and I therefore pre­
sent herewith the inclosed draught of a bill, with the recommendation that it be pre­
sented to Congress for its action, providing for the use of $8,380 out of the funds of 
the Osage tribe of Indians for the relief of Hiatt & Co., and that said sum be appor­
tioned and paid to the person or persons, or their legal representatives if deceased, 
comprising the firm or copartnership of Hiatt & Co. at the time the claim accrued, 
in such amounts as their interests in said claim shall be made to appear in proof sat­
if'!factory to the proper accounting officers of the 'l'reasnry Department; also provid­
ing for the repeal of the act entitled ''An act for the relief of J. M. Hiatt, only sur­
viving partner of Hiatt & Co.," approved July 14, 1886.: 

I havee honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant, 
. L. Q. C. LAMAR, 

Sect·etary. 

A BILL for the relief of Hiatt and Company, late traders for the Osage tribe of Indians, and for other 
purposes. 

Be it enacted by the Senate and House of Bept·esentati·ves of the UnUed States of Amet·ica 
in Congt·ess assembled, That the Secretary of the 'l'reasury be and he is hereby author­
ized and directed to pay ont of any money in the 'freasury accruing to the Osage 
tribe of Indians by act of Congress approved Jnne sixteenth, eigl1tcen hundred and 
eigllty, the sum of eight thousaml three hundred and eighty do1lars in full satisfac­
tion of the claim of Hiatt all(l Company against the Osage trihe of Indians for goods 
§O!d to them on an extended credit, said f:IUPJ tQ Qe apportioutt<l-l'\'nd paid tQ tbe pe:r .. 

a. Bep. 1~81--2 . . . " 
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son or persons, or their legal representatives if deceas<~d, comprising the firm or co 
partnership of Hiatt and Company at the time the claim accrued, in such amounts as 
their several interests in said claim shall be made to appear in proof satisfactory to 
the proper accounting officers of the Treasury. 

SEC. 2. The act entitled "An act for the relief of J. M. Hiatt, only surviving part­
ner of Hiatt and Cornpany," n.pprovPd Jnly fourtePnth, ~ighteenth hundred and sixty­
six, is herel,y repealed. 

No action was taken upon this communication by the Forty-ninth 
Congress, and after its adjourmrten t the Secretary of the Interior allowed 
and paid to Hiatt one-half the claim, viz, $8,380. This operated as an 
execution of the act of July 14, 1886, and Mr. Hiatt had no recourse 
but to again appeal to Congress, and the present bill is now pending 
for his relief. 

Since that time Mr. Hiatt has <lied, but a few days before his death 
he made his last affidavit, which follows, together with that of other per­
sons, in rebuttal of the inspector's report. 
In the matter of the claim of J. M. Hiatt, surviving partner of Hiatt & Co., against 

the 0Rage Indians, 11end ing before t.he Secretary of the Iuterlor. 
'STATE OF IOWA, Lee County, 88: 

I, J. M. Hiatt, claimant as above, on my oath state that the statement given as his 
conclusions of fact by Frank C. Armstrong, United States Indian inspector, in his re­
port on said claim, are unfounded in fact. It is not true that the amount justly due 
0n said claim was not one-half the amount claimed, but on the contrary the whole 
amount of said claim, to wit, $16,759.99, is just and true and was examined by the 
business committee, aud certified by said committee to be correct; and I state that 
W. P. Adair was present at such examination U$ the friend of the Indians; that such 
examination was open and honest, and each of the business committee understood 
what he was doing and the amount of the account which he was approving, or if be 
did not it was his own fanlt through inattt·ution. 

I reiterate the statements made in my affidavit to the Commissioner of Indian Af­
fairs, of date September 8, 1~85, and my letter and affidavit of Au~ust 23, 1886, 
printed in Executive Doc. No. 35, Forty-ninth Congress, second sessiOn; and I ex­
pressly deny that said certificatA of the business committee " was obtained by corrupt 
influences and promises to pay," as charged on belief in said report of said Indian 
inspector, and said charge is entirely without any ground in fact. It is a fact that I 
did, like any other business man, let some Indians have goods on credit, but only 
such as had an income outside their annuity, and who are worthy of credit, and 
whom I felt confident wouhl pay mer but such credit was given without a thought 
on my 1•art or auy design whatever of corrupting them or influencing them in my 
favor in any way, and such credits were given bona fide wH.h the ex1}ectation that 
they would be paid, as other business men, in conducting their business, give bona. 
fide credits; and I earnestly protest that said report not only ignores entirely the evi­
dence which I have presented proving the integrity of my account, but is not war­
ranted by any competent evidence. The charge of corruption and bribery, not only 
against me but against the best men of the tribe, now dead, is based on the opinion, 
suspicions, and hearsay of hostile parties, and is wholly untrue.· 

J. M. HIATT. 

Subscribed m my presence and sworn to before me by the above-named J. M. Hiatt 
this 1:-lth day of January, 188t3. 

[L. s.J JOHN E. CRAIG, 
Nota1·y Public. 

In the matter of the claim of J. M. lliatt, surviving }lartner of Hiatt & Co., against 
the Osage Indians, pending before the Secretary of the Interior. 

STATE OF IowA, Lee County, 88 : 

I, Daniel Tisdale, of the city of Keokuk, Iowa, having been duly sworn, on my 
oath state that in the year 1880 I was at tho Osage Agency visiting my brother, Mor­
ris Tisdale, who was sick and was postmaster at that place. I had been formerly, 
in 1871 and 1872, in the employ of Hiatt & Co., and on my visit in 18tl0 I spent a 
great deal of my time in their office, but was not in their employ. I knew of the 
examination of ihe accounts of Hiatt & Co. against the Osage Indians, and now pend­
ing before the Secretary of the Interior, by the business committee. It lasted several 
days. The head-mon of the t.rihe1 with W. P. Adait1 were out ancl in the office e:t;am-
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ining books and papers. Adair was there acting as the friend of the Indians. Theo. 
R. Gay had charge of the books and papers. The Indians had an interpreter, and 
Governor Joe and W. H. Conner understood English. At the end of the examina­
tion the certificate which they signed was interpreted to them. I did not under­
stand what the interpreter said to them in their language, but they seemed to under­
stand it and signed it. I was asked to sign as a witness, which I did, with W. P. 
Aflair and Theo. R. Gay. I saw and heard nothing to indicate that the examination 
and settlement was not fair and honest and not understood by all who participated 
in it. 

DANIEL TISDALE, 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by the above-named Daniel Tis-
dale this 13th day of January, 1888. ' 

[L. s.] JoHN E. CRAIG, 
Notary Publio. 

[United States of America, Department of the Interior.] 

In the m:ttter of the claim of J. M. Hiatt, surviving partner of Hiatt & Co., v. the 
Osage Indians, pending before the Secretary of the Interior. 

Affidavit ofT. R. Gay. 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, County of San Diego, 88: 

I, T. R. Gay, of the city of San Diego, in said county and State, being duly sworn, 
state that I was in the employ of Hiatt & Co. as book-keeper at the Osage Agency, 
Ind. T., for the greater part of the term embracing the years 1875 to 1S~1, inclusive, 
I was present during the examination of the business committee of the Osage Indians. 
the latter part of the year 1880, of the account of Hiatt & Co. against the said In­
dians, amounting to nearly $17,000. That W. P. Adair, who was represented to me 
to be the attorney and friend of the said Osage Indians, was also present and 
gave his personal attention to the examination of the items and details making 
up the said account. That the certificate of indebtedness upon said account was in­
terpreted and explained to such members of the said committee as did not understand 
English, by Paul Aken, the United States interpreter for the Osages, and was signed 
by them in the presence of said W. P. Adair, Daniel Tisdale, and myself. 

T. R. GAY. 

Subscribed in my presence and sworn to before me by said T. R. Gay, this 6th day 
ofFebruary, 1888. 

[L. S. J THOMAS HIGGINS, 
Notary PtJ,blic in and for San Diego County, California. 

WASHINGTON, D. C., Jan'ttat·y, 23, 1888. 
D.EA.R SIR: I!,. C. Armstrong, United States Indian Inspector, in his report to the 

Interior Department in regard to the claim of Hiatt & Co. against the Osage Indians, 
makes this statement: "This same claim has been thrown out anu disapproved by the 
council since, because no books or papers could be produced for examination." I, as 
attorney for Hiatt & Co., did present this claim to tho Osage council, with the evi­
dence sustaining it, but it is not true "that it was thrown out and disallowed by the 
council because no books or papers could be produced for examination." The facts 
are that all the papers and evidence of the action of the business committee were pro­
duced and read and interpreted by the United States interpreter, and no books or 
other evidence was called for at all. After listening to the presentation of the case, 
without deliberating or going into any discussion ofthe merits of tho case, they pro­
(;e<·<kd to take a vote iu open council 011 the indorsement of the claim which I asked 
of thew, and unanimously voted no, and immediately adjourned. I 'Yent t,o the <>f­
tice of J:wob Bartle's trading bouse, was very soon followed by a memberofthc COllD­

cil, au educated, influential man, ancl informed by bim that if I would pay oight 
members of the council $50 each, four hundred in all, the council would unanimously 
indorse the claim. This same ofl't>r was renewed to me afterward at Bartlesville, Ind. 
T., and since then here in this city. I have every reason to believe and do believe if 
I bad complied with that request the claim would have been promptly ratified. 

All of which is respectfully submitted by yours, truly, · 
W. G. COFFIN, 

The SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR. Attorney fo1' Hiatt tJ' Co. 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA., 88 : 

Subscribed and ~worn to before me this 23d day of J~nuary, 188tl. 
[l,, s. J G. w. BALLOCH, 

Nota1·y Pu,hlic. 
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KEOKUK, IoWA, January 30, 1888. 
DEAR Sin: I rPspectfnlly but earnestly urge speedy actiou in t.he matter of my ac­

count, as surviving partner ol Hiatt & Co., a~ainHt, till' Or:;age ludianH. pnudiu~ he­
fore your Department. lurgo tlli,; the more ou account of t hP deplorable co11dit.ion 
of my health. I alii completely prostrateu, a111l naturally feel grt•at solicitn<lo that 
this matter shall Le disposed of before my life closes. 

I respectfully submit the following considerations: In view of tlw well-settled law 
as to the rights and obligations of ~ut·viving partners, the intervention of Mrs. 
Leighton and her attorney should have no influence in the detenuiuation of this 
matter. 

There is no evidence published, worthy of consideration, which impeaches the in­
tegrity of the claim. 

I can not discu:ss the report of Indian Inspector Frauk C. Armstrong and the na­
ture of the evidence upon which it is bat~ed. My attorney will do that if necessary. 
But I wish t.o say t.hat no good lawyer will say that said report is warranted even by 
the t!O-ealled evidence on which it seems 10 have been based. It completely ignores 
the whole evidence in favor of claim, given uy those who knew the facts: ami who 
have a.lway~:~ Leen deemecl worthy of creclit (except by the author of t.hm report). 
Most of his conclu::;ions are based ou hearsay-mueb of it second-band hearsa,y at 
thatr-and from a rival kader, a hostile agent, aud others wlw are now unwilling to 
pay an honest claim aJHl are interested iu the fund out. of whieh it is to be paid, and 
some of his emJClusious h<Lve uo i:!llp]Jort even by this kind of evidence. For· ex­
ample, the affidavit ofT. L. H.ogers gives no shadow of excuse for the gratnitons 
assumption of tho inspector iu his rep01·t "that some of the parties interested in the 
pas~:~age of the Hiatt claim are also iutereste(l iu the Adair claim." 

The inspector seems to have ahsorhe<l every suspicion and taken everything for 
granted against the inte~ril,y of the claim. I am not responsible for the appointment 
of W. H. Conuor oll the Dtt8iness cormuittee or of Paul Aken as interpreter. The In­
dians now, after they have received the benefit, are interested in defeating the pay­
ment of the claim; and those fi·om whom the inspector seems to have sought informa­
tion are interested in making the Indians uelieve that they are their friends, awl 
those who know t.he facts from the beginning to the end of t.be trammct.ioll, including 
the best of the Indians, are deau. The inspector, on his way to the agency, ca1Jed on 
me here in Keokuk, antl found me prostrated on a sick-bed, and then went on and 
made his so-callecl investigation, and then without a single inquiry of me or my at­
torney as to any circumstances wbicll he might have deemed suspicious, without 
giving us any opportunity of explanation whatever, without a wotd or intimrttion 
to me or my friends, emboclied in his report a charge of deliberate and palpahlt•. cor­
ruption against mo. I suumit that this was mo~;t unfair and unjust, and was 11ot the 
way to elucidate the truth. 

Very respectfully, yours, 
J. M. HIATT. 

The SECRETARY 01<' THE INTERIOR. 

I have known J. ~L Hiatt iutirnately and well for thirty-five years, and he is an 
honest man. He is hcd-ddden and l.nts been tor several yeurl'!. I do not doubt tho 
justice of his full claim. I mge its paymeut. 

SAM. F. MILLER. 
I concur. 

JAMES F. WILSON. 

I have known Mr. Hiatt for many years, and am sm·e ho would make no chtim be 
did not believe ,just. I ha.ve lmd HOllie lufowletlge of his claim, ami t.hiuk there is 
eqnity in it. Ue iH now old and in leeLle health, antll will be glad if speedy action 
cau be taken. 

Respectfullr, 
W. B. ALLISON. 

I am familiar with this claim ant1 have not the slightestdoul1t of its ahsolntejust.ici'. 
Every dollar of jt ought. to he paid. 

D. vV. VoomiEES. 

It will be seen that the evidence taken by the in1-1peetor, .Armstrong, 
is nearly altogether hearsay, ancl he himself dhwrP<lits thfl eYidenee an<l 
impeacbe~ the ellaraetef' of w~arly ever.Y wittH~:ss w lw makes a material 
statement. ~~he report itself is merely a matter; of opinion, uelief, or 
suspicion. Not only this, but tbe w,4ol~ 15tatemeut ~s refnt~4 u~· t4ocvi­
d~»ce snbmttt~r.l bJ' IJ:iijttr 
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The case is a very clear one. That a credit was extended to the In­
dians, and at a time when it was imperatively necessary, is not doubted 
or questioned. It was done on the urgent and piteous request of the chiefs 
and the governing body of the Indians, as is equally unquestioned, and 
was approved by the Indian agent. So ·also is it equally true that the 
chiefs and governing body made the obligation a national one and 
guarantied its payment out of the tribe's national fund. The only 
question that has ever arisen or that now exists is simply as to the ag­
gregate sum of the credit thus extended-How much was tlle amount of 
the indebtedness ~ 

The evidence is overwhelming that the creditor, Hiatt & Co., and the 
debtor, through their legally constituted governing body, met to settle 
and adjust this account, and that every means and opportunity were 
furnished the governing body to enable them to see, know, and under­
stand every item of the account. They were engaged in this investiga­
tion for several days, and then and there !ldjusted and settled the ac­
count and reduced the same in a formal official I'equest to the Secretary 
of the Interior, through the Indian Commissioner, to pay the sum thus 
stated r_nd agreed upon out of the national fund of the Osage Indians. 

A more complete, fol'mal, and legal adjustment of the matter can not 
be conceived or presented. It was the result of careful examination 
and deliberation, formed upon a present sense of gratitude and obliga­
tion. It was approved by the Indian agent, who also at the time urged 
its payment, and it is incredible that there could have been any fraud 
or wrong in the settlement without his cognizance and interference. 

Such a statement of the account and settlement of a balance is con­
clusive in all courts of law and equity, unless it is diligently impeached 
upon the ground of fraud or mistake. It may be modified and reduced 
by showing errors in items which will be purged from the account aud 
deducted from the agreed balance. The settlement may be repudiated 
and set aside upon showing that it was procured by fraud; but in either 
case the evidence must be clear and conclusive. It is much like setting 
aside a written deed or instrument. Especially must the evidence be 
clear and satisfactory where the attempt to impeach the settlement is 
made, as it is in the present case, years after the settlement and after 
papers and books are lost and parties and witnesses are dead and sGat­
tered. 

But in the present case there is no legitimate attempt to impeach the 
justice of the account or t.he correctness of the settlement. Not a par­
ticle of testimony is to the point that any item was erroneous or that 
anythin~· was included in the account which ought not to have been. 
Not a word is presented from any witness who pretends to have had 
any personal knowledge on th!3 subject whatever. Wllen fairly con­
sidered and reduced to its real effect the evidence produced simply 
goes in a vague, general way to create tlle impression that the settle­
ment was not fully and carefully made, and that some of the persons 
whom the writings made at the time of the settlement show to have 
been present, taking part in such settlem0nt, were not present in fact. 
But all this evidence is flatly in conflict with the written papers exe­
cuted by these very parties at the time and as part of the settlement. 
In his report the inspector, Armstrong, discredits these same witnesses. 
In the mean time, when this last investigation was bad, 011e member of 
the firm of Hiatt & Co. had died, and the other member, the survivor, 
was on his death-bed, unable to be present. The inspector sought no 
1nformation from him, and gave him uo opportunity to explain any of 
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the circumstances or facts which had been gathered from the parties 
who had succeeded to the situation, and who were either hostile to 
Hiatt or interested in defeating his claim. The situation, the circum­
stances, and the parties had completely changed. Not only is there 
evidence that the new Indian agent was inimical to Hiatt and anxious 
to defeat his claim, but the Inuians are not so much unlike white men 
but that they can be easily induced to repudiate and deny a claim, 
however just and meritorious it was, especially if it has become old. 
There is, besides, very satisfactory evidence that some of the council of 
Indians who recently objected to the claim and induced the Inrlian 
agent, as he says, to send their protest against the claim to the Com­
missioner of Indian Affairs, were not sincere and were governed by a 
desire to be paid for their assent and approval of the claim, and would 
have withdrawn all objection upon payment of a small sum of money. 

The report of the Indian inspector, Armstrong, contains inherent evi­
dence of its own insufficiency. It consists of "opinion," "belief," and 
suspicion, and discredits the very witnesses on whose hearsay state­
ments such opinions are based. It is not sufficient to affect the clear 
and legal proof of the original statement of the account, made by duly 
constituted authority and under circumstances which entitle it to credit 
and belief, and which would stand as competent and satisfactory evi­
dence in any court of law or equity. Tbe character of Mr. Hiatt is above 
suspicion, and his integrity is vouched for by Mr. Justice Miller, of the 
Supreme Court, and Senators Allison and Voorhees. 

The action of the Department in reducing the amount just one-half 
was evidently the result, not of belief of the existence of any fraud, but 
of some slight uncertainty, consequent upon the inspector's report, and 
from the idea that the account could be docked on general principles. 
But the 8light effect of the inspector's report has been overcome by the 
later affidavits filed in the case. 

In view of the whole case the committee recommend the passage of 
the bill. 
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